
1 
 

PENSIONS, BENEFITS AND SOCIAL SECURITY SECTION (PBSS) 
 

Minutes of the Annual General Meeting of the PBSS Section  
held on Monday 8 June 2015 from 16:45 to 17:05 hrs  

at the Grand Hotel, Oslo 
 
 

1. Introductions and Apologies 
The Chairman (Marius du Toit) welcomed everybody to the meeting. 18 members of PBSS attended 
the meeting. No apologies were noted.  

 
2. Adoption of Agenda 

The agenda was adopted without change. 
 

3. Approval of the minutes of the last meeting held on Monday 31 March 2014 from 17:45 to 18:45 
hrs at the Washington Marriott Wardman Park Hotel, Washington DC  
There were no questions or comments about the draft minutes and thus the minutes were approved 
without change.    

 
4. Chairman’s report 

1) ICA Washington: Firstly, MdT briefly reported on the ICA2014 held in Washington from Sunday 30 
of March to Friday 04 of April 2014 and said that it was also successful financially and IAA had 
actually given some of the surplus back to the sections.  

2) ASTIN bulletin: MdT said that PBSS was the only section that has chosen to go electronic only 
version of ASTIN bulletin, but if a member needed a physical copy he/she could request it from the 
IAA secretariat. MdT added that there were three issues of ASTIN bulletin in 2014. 

3) Webinars: MdT said webinars held from 2014 to January 2015 were all successful but there were 
only thirty participants per webinar. MdT encouraged every PBSS member to register for webinars 
with the topic that he/she is interested in since PBSS purchased a licence of 100 participants per 
webinar. MdT noted that some interesting webinars are in the pipeline.    

4) Prizes for papers: MdT reported that PBSS started to give prizes for best papers but had not given 
the prizes yet to papers in ASTIN bulletin because there were very few pension related papers. 
However, PBSS started on a regular basis to give best paper prizes to papers presented in each 
colloquium. MdT added that in Oslo the best paper prize would be presented on Wednesday 
morning and added that in this Colloquium the scientific committee did the job of selecting the best 
papers. A member of the PBSS Committee, Mr Florian Léger, joined the committee. The amount of 
the best paper prize is CAD1,000.  

5) Reading/reference list/Virtual library: MdT expressed his gratitude to Mr Abraham Hernández 
Pacheco for his hard work of preparing the reading/reference lists every two months, which are very 
valuable and useful. 

 



2 
 

6) Bursaries: MdT reported that PBSS provides bursaries as explained before and used CAD12,050 
for bursaries in 2013, as reflected in the financial statements for FY2013. MdT explained that PBSS 
made a contribution of USD10,000 to the ICA bursary fund. MdT added that PBSS provided bursaries 
of about CAD6,000 for the Oslo Colloquium and explained several conditions such as that the 
applicant must be a presenter, that the paper must be accepted, that the paper must be presented 
in the colloquium, and so on.   

 
5. Secretary’s report 

The Secretary (Nobuhiro Shimizu) reported as follows:  

The PBSS membership has shown very steadily increase in recent years. Anybody can check the 
situation using one of the ‘member tools’ provided in the IAA website. Currently the membership is 
around 560 as of June 1, 2015, where the United Kingdom has the largest memberships of 82, 
followed by the United States with 72 memberships, and there are other six countries with the 
memberships of more than 20. They are, Japan with 64, the Netherlands with 48, France with 41, 
Norway with 38, Canada with 36 and South Africa with 23. It should be noted that these numbers 
are not always based on the nationality of individual members, but sometimes on the nationality of 
IAA member associations through which his/her annual membership due was paid.  

With regard to the ‘corporate member’ arrangement reported at the last AGM held in Washington 
D.C. last year, the proposal of a ‘corporate member’ was merely a personal one of a then board 
member of Japanese Society of Certified Pension Actuaries (JSCPA) and there was no institutional 
commitment. Last year, new leadership of JSCPA made it clear that it did not want to be treated as a 
corporate member under the new leadership. Thus, currently there is no corporate membership 
treatment in PBSS. However, PBSS is still open to formal proposals of being treated as a ‘corporate 
member’ from any other IAA member associations. 

 
6. Treasurer’s report 

As the Treasurer (Carl Hansen) was absent, MdT explained the financial situation of PBSS as follows:  

In general, the section finance is good. We have additional surplus (excess of revenues over 
expenses) of about CAD11,000 for FY2014. Some of the surplus is due to unexpected large 
membership dues but most of the surplus is attributed to low expenses in FY2014 for bursaries, 
prizes and other initiatives. A financial commitment for ICA2014 mostly comes through estimated 
certain expenses. We have committed about CAD6,000 for bursaries for the Oslo Colloquium.  

For budget purposes we are trying to be conservative by assuming no increase in membership dues 
and allocate excess of revenues over expenses to member initiatives such as colloquia bursaries, 
prizes, etc. This will keep the surplus at same level going forward. We should continue to look for 
worthwhile member initiatives to support each year.   

Over the next few years we expect some increase in the per membership IAA administration cost 
recoveries. However, as the ICA2014 held in Washington was very successful financially, IAA 
expressed its intention to use some of the financial windfall from the ICA2014 to offset the proposed 
increase in the per membership IAA cost recoveries from the sections for the next one or two years.  

The membership dues in FY2014 was CAD26,100, which shows slight increase from the previous year 
due to the membership increase as mentioned in the Secretary’s report. Total expenses is 
CAD15,369 for FY2014 with a  surplus of CAD10,820. As a result, the amount of net assets at the end 
of FY2014 is CAD51,831, which is about twice the total annual membership dues. He noted that we 
need adequate net assets to cover possible financial shortfalls of colloquia at which we share the 
risks.   

 
7. Election of Committee members 

MdT explained the list of Committee members for 2014-15 and said that the terms of three 
members came to an end and the election notice was issued on March 20 as there were three 



3 
 

vacancies. Mr Thomas S. Terry said that the election was coordinated through the secretariat office 
in Ottawa and reported that three vacancies would be filled by Mr Abraham Hernández Pacheco, Mr 
Florian Léger and Mr Nobuhiro Shimizu as the result of the electronic voting. Tom’s report was 
approved with applause and thus these three persons were elected to be members of the PBSS 
Committee.  

 
8. Future activities 

MdT reported that the organisation of the next Colloquium was getting along very well and the 
program outline was ready to be drafted. MdT said that It would be a colloquium together with a 
number of other IAA sections, as well as the International Pension & Employee Benefits Lawyers 
Association (IPEBLA) and the Canadian Institute of Actuaries (CIA) and thus we expected about 450 
participants in total. MdT added that it would be held in St. Johns, Newfoundland in Canada, from 27 
to 29 of June, 2016. 

On the 2017 Colloquium, MdT reported that PBSS Committee confirmed the decision that PBSS 
would have the 2017 Colloquium in Cancun in Mexico. MdT expressed his gratitude to Abraham. 

MdT said that ICA2018 would be held in Berlin and added that PBSS should get involved in the 
Congress as PBSS have a co-responsibility to look after the PBSS stream.  

MdT reported that PBSS Committee started to think about the 2019 Colloquium and said that there 
had been no proposals yet and asked anybody who wants to host the 2019 Colloquium to speak to a 
committee member. 

 
9. Next meeting 

MdT noted that next AGM will take place next year in St. Johns, Canada at the occasion of the 2016 
Colloquium.  

 
10. Other business   

There was a question whether the Vice Chair and the Secretary would be kept as they were and MdT 
responded that PBSS Committee had not discussed the issue yet. It was the Committee’s role to 
appoint officers from its membership  
 

11. Close 
There being no further business, the Chairman closed the meeting, and thanked all for their 
attendance. 
 

June 2015 
Marius du Toit                                            
Chairman, PBSS 
 


